
Jenny Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Fax : Bideford (01237) 479164

Date: 24 February 2017

TO:  THE CHAIR AND COUNCILLORS OF THE 
TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

FULL COUNCIL 
MEETING

TOWN HALL - BRIDGE STREET, BIDEFORD, EX39 
2HS ON Monday 6 March 2017 at 6.30 pm

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the
aforementioned date and time

Head of Paid Service

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the 
meeting.

P R A Y E R S 
For those who wish to participate - Prayers will be held at 6.25 pm.

A G E N D A

1.  APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.  COUNCIL MINUTES (Pages 4 - 9)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 23 January 2017.



- 2 -

3.  PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 
15 minute period for public contributions

4.  TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

5.  TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

6.  ATLANTIC RACQUET CENTRE 
To receive a presentation from the Atlantic Racquet Centre.

7.  HEART OF THE SOUTH WEST (HOTSW) DEVOLUTION (Pages 10 - 19)
To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service.

8.  WINKLEIGH PARISH NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA DESIGNATION (Pages 20 - 28)
To receive the report of the Planning Manager.

9.  APPOINTMENT OF NON-ELECTED REPRESENTATIVE (Pages 29 - 30)
To receive the report of the Senior Solicitor.

10.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT (Pages 31 - 43)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources).

11.  PAY POLICY (Pages 44 - 50)
To receive the report from the Leader.

12.  STANDARDS COMMITTEE DETERMINATION - CLLR DAVID BRENTON (Pages 
51 - 53)
To receive the report of the Senior Solicitor.

13.  TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME (STANDING ITEM) 

14.  PETITIONS 
To receive petitions (if any)

15.  NOTICES OF MOTION (Page 54)
Notice of Motion from Councillor Jane Whittaker

That Torridge District Council support the motion passed by West Lindsay District 
Council (attached) and that we ask our MP, Geoffrey Cox to lobby the Secretary of 
State for Health to introduce a scheme of ‘rural weighting’ for GP’s who accept 
positions in Torridge. Similar to the accepted practice of ‘London weighting’, such a 
scheme would act to attract the needed physicians and in turn would facilitate the 
better provision of health services.



- 3 -

16.  EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
The Chair to move:

“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972”

17.  PART II - (CLOSED SESSION) 

Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed.

Meeting Organiser:  Democratic Services Tel. 01237 428703



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS

Monday, 23 January 2017 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT: Councillor M Langmead (Chair)
Councillor J Himan (Vice-Chair)

Councillors M Brown, P Christie, R Darch, A Dart, K Davis, 
G Dezart, A Eastman, P Hackett, R Hancock, R Hicks, D Hurley, 
T Inch, S Inch, K James, T Johns, J Langton-Lockton, 
P Le Maistre, R Lock, D McGeough, J Morrish, S Robinson, 
C Simmons, P Watson, J Whittaker, A Whittle and R Wiseman

ALSO PRESENT: Mr I Harper, Non-elected Member
Mr T Gibbs, Non-elected Member

J Wallace, Head of Paid Service
S Hearse, Strategic Manager (Resources)
J Hollis, Senior Solicitor
M Richards, Democratic Services Officer
T Vanstone, Demorcratic Services Officer
R Haste, Waste and Recycling Manager

16 Members of the public .

64.   APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boundy, Boyle, Brenton, 
Carroll, Gregorek, Julian, Parker and Pennington.

65.   COUNCIL MINUTES 

It was proposed by Councillor S Inch, seconded by Councillor P Watson and -

Resolved:   

That, subject to the following amendments, the minutes of the meetings held on 21 
November 2016 and 5 December 2016 be confirmed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair.

21 November 2016

Also Present

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



2

Approximately 4 members of the public - removal of the word “approximately”.

5 December 2016

Minute 53 To Answer Questions Submitted Under Procedural Rule A9

Supplementary Question raised by Councillor Christie.

He touched on the overall project costs (£320M) and the possibility that 1/3 of the 
barrage would have to be concreted over …..

Replacement of the word “ barrage” with “pebble ridge”.

(Vote: For 24, Abstentions 4) 

66.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

With the permission of the Chair, Dr Brian Walker addressed the meeting on behalf 
Tarka Community.  Tarka Community was founded by the Mission Community of 
Bideford, Landcross, Littleham, Monkleigh and Weare Giffard and was registered 
with the Charity Commission.  

Their aim was to help one or 2 Syrian refugee families to resettle in the Torridge 
area and they were seeking to become Government approved.  In order to achieve 
this they would need approval from DCC and the relevant district council and would 
need to demonstrate that they met several criteria.

TARKA Community had already raised £10,000 which was sufficient to support one 
family whilst they found accommodation in the private sector.  Tarka Community 
had not yet identified a property within the District of Torridge.  Upon allocation of a 
family, Tarka Community, working with Devon County, would help with registration 
at doctors, schools etc and provide English lessons. 

Dr Walker sought Torridge District Council’s in principle consent to enable an 
application for Community Sponsorship to be made to the Home Office.

67.   TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

The Chair invited the Senior Solicitor to provide an update on the latest 
developments at Moreton Park.

The Senior Solicitor gave a brief history of the planning permission for a community 
centre at Abbotsham Road/Moreton Park.  WINGS were to prove they were able to 
construct and run the centre for 5 years and thereafter to be self funding.  This did 
not materialise and consequently the relevant S106 agreement now provided for a 
scheme of recreational facilities on the site.

On Thursday, WINGS commenced building on the site.  A Temporary Stop 
Notice to lay down tools and leave the site had been issued.  The owners of the 

Page 5



3

site, Redrow, had also instructed WINGS to cease all works.  Building materials 
were due to be delivered on 24 January.  TDC has various enforcement tools to 
ensure the Temporary Stop Notice is adhered to.

The Ward Member asked that he and all Councilors be kept in the loop.  The 
Chair agreed and advised that he had been in contact with the Town Council on 
the matter.

68.   TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

There were no questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9.

69.   TARKA COMMUNITY REFUGEE SPONSORSHIP APPLICATION 

In accordance with the Council Constitution it was proposed by Councillor 
Langmead, seconded by Councillor T Inch, and - 

Resolved: That standing orders be suspended to allow debate to take place 
regarding this agenda item

(Vote:  For - unanimous)

Dr Walker responded to questions, clarifying:

DCC had agreed, in principle, to give approval to the sponsorship allocation and 
TDC’s in principle support was also required.

Tarka Community would need to provide the police with location details of the 
house and then appropriate schools, facilities and safeguarding arrangements in 
the area would be verified.

Concerns were raised that:

 £10,000 would not go very far towards supporting a family for a year and 
renting in the private sector for 2 years.  Dr Walker reassured Members that 
any difference between income and rental would be funded by Tarka 
Community who were very experienced at fund raising.  He also confirmed 
refugees would be assisted to find less expensive private sector housing if 
required.  They would also be eligible for benefits such as Job Seekers 
Allowance and Housing Benefit.

 Families would struggle to integrate because of culture and language issues.  
Dr Walker re-affirmed that a small group of interpreters had already been 
identified.

 A robust safeguarding arrangement would need to be in place to protect the 
families from local residents who did not accept refugees.  There had been a 
great deal of hatred directed at the cause when the teenage boys had been 
temporarily homed at Beam House.

Page 6



4

The Chair read out the conditions stipulated by Devon County Council.  Consent 
would be conditional upon:

 Availability of school places in the resettlement location without incurring 
eligibility for school transport at additional cost to the authority.

 A community safety check carried out by the Diverse Communities Team of 
Devon & Cornwall Police which raises no concerns about community 
tensions or risks to individuals.

 Any referral of a specific family for resettlement must be assessed using the 
multidisciplinary assessment process already in place in Devon for the local 
authority-managed resettlement programme, with the option to decline the 
referral if practitioners advise that any special or additional needs cannot be 
met effectively in the proposed resettlement location.

It was proposed by Councillor Langmead, seconded by Councillor Robinson and –

Resolved: That a recorded vote be taken.

More than 5 members voted in favour of a recorded vote.  Therefore, the motion 
was carried.

It was proposed by Councillor T Inch, seconded by Councillor Whittaker and –

Resolved: That in principle support be confirmed to enable Tarka Community to 
progress their application to the Home Office to support a refugee family(s) under 
the Government’s Community Sponsorship Scheme.

Votes for the above resolutions were recorded as follows:

COUNCILLOR FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

BROWN,  M X
CHRISTIE, P S X
DARCH, R X
DART, A X
DAVIS, K X
DEZART, G A X
EASTMAN, A J X
HACKETT, P J W X
HANCOCK, R X
HICKS, R H X
HIMAN, J X
HURLEY, D X
INCH, A T X
INCH, S G X
JAMES, K J X

Page 7



5

JOHNS, T J X
LANGMEAD, M X
LANGTON-LOCKTON, J X
LE MAISTRE, P G X
LOCK, R A X
MORRISH, J X
McGEOUGH, D A D X
ROBINSON, S X
SIMMONS, C X
WATSON, P X
WHITTAKER, J X
WHITTLE, A X
WISEMAN, R X
TOTALS 23 5

(Vote: For 23, Against 5)

70.   TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME (STANDING ITEM) 

The Head of Paid Service advised that there was nothing new to report except that 
tenders for the hub and offices were due back and would be opened next week.

71.   PETITIONS 

There were no petitions.

72.   NOTICES OF MOTION 

There were no notices of motion.

73.   EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 

It was proposed by Councillor Langmead, seconded by Councillor Watson and –

Resolved:

That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business because of 
the likely disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 and  
Paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

(Vote: For - unanimous)

74.   PART II - (CLOSED SESSION) 

Page 8



6

PART II

75.   WASTE & RECYCLING REVIEW 

The Waste and Recycling Manager presented the report, the purpose of which was 
for Members to review all scheme change options detailed in the report and to 
make an informed decision on the future of the Waste and Recycling Service.

Following discussion it was proposed by Councillor Morrish, seconded by 
Councillor Robinson and –

Resolved: 
1. That the revised scheme for Waste and Recycling Services be approved. 
2. That Officers be authorised to investigate depot options and to report back to 

future meetings of the Community & Resources Committee. 

(Vote:  For 25, Against 3)

 It was proposed by Councillor Langmead, seconded by Councillor Watson and –

Resolved:

That the meeting return to Part I and that any press and public be readmitted.

(Vote: For unanimous)

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.35 pm

Chair: Date:

Page 9



REPORT OF Head of Paid Service
To: Council
Subject: Heart of the South West (HotSW) Devolution
Date: 6 March 2017 Reference: JW

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    This report provides an update following the July 2016 ‘in 
principle’ Council approvals to progress negotiations for a devolution deal and the 
establishment of a Combined Authority, both subject to further report and the approval of 
the 17 councils

This report also outlines proposals for the:

 Preparation and approval of a HotSW Productivity Plan to take forward the HotSW 
Prospectus for Productivity which was prepared in support of the partnership’s 
aspirations to secure a devolution deal and approved by the councils in February 
2016. 

 Creation of a formal HotSW Joint Committee of the local authorities, national park 
authorities and partners to take forward the Productivity Plan.

The proposals outlined above are covered by common recommendations in this report to 
be considered by all of the councils during February/March 2017. 

1. INTRODUCTION

Combined Authority / Devolution Deal update

Following the in-principle agreement by Heart of the South West (HotSW) local 
authorities to move towards a Combined Authority model to deliver its devolution 
deal, the Government has changed and the EU Referendum has taken place. Both 
of these events have had a significant impact on Government policy and in 
particular the approach to devolution.   

Members will recall that before the change of Government the previous Secretary of 
State had indicated his support for the establishment of a Combined Authority for 
the HotSW area and indicated that a Mayor would not be imposed or be a pre-
condition of any initial devolution deal.  Although it was made clear that a Mayor 
was required to achieve extensive funding and powers, the partnership was 
encouraged to push the limits of an initial deal, with the potential for further deals in 
the future.  At that stage in the early autumn of 2016, the Autumn Statement 
presented the first opportunity for the announcement of an initial deal.  It was also 
acknowledged that the HotSW LEP would not be penalised in Growth Deal 3 
negotiations through not agreeing to a Mayor.  

These indications were sufficient for the council to pass resolutions on 27 June 
2016 to agree to the principle of creating a non-Mayoral Combined Authority for the 

Page 10

Agenda Item 7



Heart of the South West, as set out in the Prospectus for Productivity, as the basis 
for negotiation with Government towards a devolution deal for the area.

2. REPORT

Following the change of Government, the new Secretary of State has given a clear 
indication that a Mayoral Combined Authority is required in order to achieve a 
significant devolution deal.  

Our view is that the partnership must maintain the momentum achieved to date by 
putting in place arrangements across the HotSW area to deliver our key ambition of 
raising productivity and avoid the area being disadvantaged compared to its 
neighbours.  Pending any progress being made on this, and  to allow the area to 
capitalise on the emerging, national Industrial Strategy, the Leaders are 
recommending the following at this stage:  

 The creation of a HotSW Productivity Plan to develop the strength of the 
Heart of South West’s economy; and

 That consideration is given to the creation of a Joint Committee of HotSW 
partners to drive the development and delivery of the Productivity Plan and 
be the basis for identifying further public sector reform opportunities for 
recommendation to the partner authorities.

HotSW Productivity Plan

The report to Council on 27 June 2016 set out that regardless of whether the area 
entered into a devolution deal with Government the partnership intended to  
continue with the development of a Productivity Plan for the area to deliver the 
aspirations set out in the Prospectus for Productivity agreed by the Councils in 
February 2016.  This remains the priority of the partnership.

The Productivity Plan, which replaces the LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan, will guide 
the long term growth aspirations for the area and will be our key strategic document 
for engaging with Government and our communities on future prosperity.  In the 
absence of a combined authority / devolution deal at this stage a mechanism is 
required to enable the partners to collaborate formally to maximise what can be 
achieved within existing structures and resources  through new ways of working as 
well as continue negotiations with Government over a range of policy agendas to 
help deliver the partnership’s productivity ambitions.

The latest research from Exeter University confirms that the area has one of the 
best employment rates in the country. However, too many of those jobs are part-
time and low paid.  The area significantly lags behind the rest of the UK in terms of 
its productivity and the key to our future prosperity is to address this disparity

Productivity is defined as: “the amount of goods and services that a person, industry 
or country produces per hour.” The more good and services that are produced, the 
more productive – and ultimately wealthy – an economy is. There are 5 drivers of 
productivity which must all be addressed for productivity to rise:

1. Competition 

Page 11



 Which encourages business to innovate and be more efficient; and
 Access to national and international markets through good infrastructure. 

2. Enterprise

 New business opportunities for existing firms and start-ups where competition 
encourages new ideas and ways of working; and

 Support for businesses and entrepreneurs.

3. Investment in physical capital

 Machinery, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. More capital generally 
means that more can be done, better and quicker; and

 Infrastructure and somewhere to ‘set up shop’ are essential, and investment 
capital must be available.

4. Skills

 Skills are needed to take advantage of investment in new technologies and 
ways of running a business; and

 Skills alone can determine productivity but so do good management, creativity 
and investment.

5. Innovation

 The successful exploitation of new ideas: technology, products or ways of 
working boost productivity, for example as better equipment works faster; and

 Research and development and general support for innovators is essential.

Our Prospectus for Productivity confirms our commitment to increasing productivity 
across the Heart of the South West to ensure a successful future economy.    We 
know the new Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, who 
is developing the Industrial Strategy, is keen to hear and reflect the local narrative in 
his strategy.  The Productivity Plan will provide the platform for the area to engage 
with Government on this agenda with a view to delivering our collective aspirations 
for growth in the Heart of the South West.

The Productivity Plan will be developed through an evidence base produced by the 
LEP’s Future Economy Group and engagement with stakeholders and the 
community.  In developing the Plan a range of issues will be explored:

 Productivity in the public and private sector
 Understanding how the local economy works and interventions required to 

guide investment decisions
 Bringing together local government, business community, public, the 

universities and other groups 
 The need to build an inclusive economy with growth for all.

Work to create the Productivity Plan is intended to be a fully inclusive process 

Page 12



involving all stakeholders and will include public consultation. It will take the form of 
several stages as follows:

W/c 23 January – 10 March 2017 – a discussion paper will be shared shortly with 
all Councils.  This ‘Green Paper’ will set out some of the emerging challenges for 
Heart of the South West productivity identified by the LEP’s Future Economy Group.  
The results from this discussion paper will form the basis of a formal consultation 
paper on the vision and priorities for a Productivity Plan.

May 2017 (post County Council elections) – A formal consultation ‘White Paper’ 
will be released to all Councils and stakeholders.  This will be a public consultation 
to directly inform the content of the Productivity Plan.  

September 2017 – The Productivity Plan will be considered for formal adoption.

HotSW Joint Committee Proposal

Members of all councils will be aware of the work on developing the Combined 
Authority proposal for the HotSW area.  This work was suspended following the 
change of government focus outlined elsewhere in this report.  The partnership 
decided that until we have clarification locally from the Secretary of State of the 
criteria for moving forward on devolution, it would take forward a less risky and more 
cost effective short term option of forming a HotSW Joint Committee to oversee and 
own the development and delivery of the Productivity Plan.    Although the Joint 
Committee would not have the statutory status of a Combined Authority and cannot 
therefore deliver the full range of benefits that a Combined Authority can, it has the 
potential to provide cohesive, coherent leadership and formal governance to agree 
and oversee delivery of the Productivity Plan and bring forward other pan-HotSW 
proposals for recommendation to the constituent authorities, as desired and 
necessary.   Its role will focus on collaboration, negotiation and influencing with full 
delegated decision making responsibilities limited to agreeing and overseeing the 
implementation of the HotSW Productivity Plan.  All other matters where a decision 
is required will be referred back to the constituent authorities for approval. 

Ultimately the aims of the Joint Committee through delivery of the Productivity Plan 
will be to:

 Improve the economy and the prospects for the region by bringing together 
the public, private and education sectors;

 Increase our understanding of the economy and what needs to be done to 
make it stronger; 

 Ensure that the necessary strategic framework, including infrastructure 
requirements, is in place across the HotSW area to enable sub-regional 
arrangements to fully deliver local aspirations; and 

 Improve the efficiency and productivity of the public sector.   

The creation of a single strategic public sector partnership covering the HotSW area 
will: facilitate collaborative working; help us to remove barriers to progress; and will 
provide the partnership with the formal structure to engage with Government at a 
strategic level to maximise the opportunities /benefits available to the area from 
current and future government policy.  It will also enable the constituent authorities 

Page 13



and partners to have discussions with neighbouring councils / combined authorities / 
LEP areas on South West peninsula priorities and issues as well as the ability to 
move swiftly towards a devolution deal and Combined Authority model in the future 
if the conditions are acceptable.

A Joint Committee will also provide a formal mechanism for the constituent 
authorities to engage effectively with the LEP across common boundaries and 
agendas.  The LEP is in the process of adopting a new assurance framework as 
part of new government requirements which require improvements in the LEP’s 
transparency and accountability.  The direct involvement of the LEP in the Joint 
Committee on many common agendas will provide a mechanism to enable the 
councils to have a more direct involvement in and greater influence over the 
activities of the LEP. 

The detail of the proposed functions of the Joint Committee and how it will operate 
will be set out in a draft ‘Arrangements’ document which will be presented to the 
constituent authorities for approval in  the summer .     The reason for only seeking 
an ‘in principle’ approval to the creation of a Joint Committee at this stage is 
because of the local County Council elections scheduled for May 2017.   Therefore 
final decisions to establish the Joint Committee will be sought from all authorities in 
July / August with a view to the Committee being established on the 1st September 
2017.

In detail the proposed functions of the Joint Committee are as follows:

(a) Develop, own and implement the HotSW Productivity Plan in collaboration with 
the LEP.

(b) To identify and develop proposals (for recommendation to constituent 
authorities / partner agencies as necessary) in response to policy opportunities 
presented by the Government to secure functions and funding for the benefit of 
improving productivity. Examples include Industrial Strategy, Brexit, and 
Devolution. 

(c) Develop and make recommendations to the constituent authorities / partner 
agencies for actions emerging from the work of the Brexit Opportunities and 
Resilience Task Group

(d) Continue discussions / negotiations with the Government / relevant agencies to 
secure delivery of the Government’s strategic infrastructure commitments, eg, 
strategic road and rail transport improvements 

(e) Identify opportunities for rationalising / improving existing public sector 
governance arrangements and make recommendations to the constituent 
authorities/partners..

(f) To work with the LEP to identify and deliver improvements to the LEP’s 
democratic accountability and to assist the organisation to comply with the 
revised (November 2016) LEP Assurance Framework. This includes formally 
endorsing the LEP’s assurance framework on behalf of the constituent 
authorities as and when required and before it is formally approved by the 
LEP’s Administering Authority.

(g) To ensure that adequate resources (including staff and funding) are allocated 
by HotSW partners to enable the objectives in (a) to (f) above to be delivered.

In addition to the functions set out above, the Joint Committee Arrangements 

Page 14



document will set out in detail:

(a) Membership arrangements: based on1 Authority (and to include the 2 National 
Park Authorities, 1 Member (normally the Leader of the Council / Chairman of 
the National Park Authority), 1 named substitute member and 1 vote.  Partner 
organisations such as the LEP and the Clinical Commissioning Groups will also 
have non-voting membership of the Joint Committee

(b) Standing Orders / Rules of Procedure:  An Administering Authority will be 
identified to support the operation of the Committee and it will be recommended 
that the Standing Orders and Rules of Procedure of the Administering Authority 
will apply to the operation of the Committee.  This will include the usual Access 
to Information rules which apply to local authority meetings.

(c) Provisions to enable a Constituent Authority to formally withdraw from the Joint 
Committee and for the Joint Committee to be dissolved.

(d) Appointment of a Chairman and Vice-Chairman on an annual basis.
(e) The ability for the Joint Committee to appoint sub-committees or establish 

working groups as required.

A draft Inter-Authority Agreement will accompany the ‘Arrangements’ document for 
approval in the summer.  This will detail how the Joint Committee will be supported 
and set out the obligations on the constituent authorities.   

In particular this document will set out the Administering Authority functions in 
support of the operation of the Committee including the provision of financial, legal, 
constitutional and administrative support to the Committee.  

The Agreement will also include:
(a) The cost sharing agreement setting out how the costs of running the Joint 

Committee will be met by the constituent authorities
(b) The roles and responsibilities of the constituent authorities in support of the 

Joint Committee
(c) The roles and duties of the Chief Executives’ Advisory Group that will support 

the Joint Committee
(d) Accounts, Audit, Insurance arrangements
(e) Confidentiality, Equal Opportunities, Data Protection provisions
(f) Dispute Resolution provisions.

In addition to the Arrangements and Agreement documents, as part of the summer 
approval recommendations, the constituent authorities will also be asked to confirm 
nominations for Joint Committee membership; and appoint an Administering 
Authority to support the Committee.  

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

Each of the partners’ legal teams and Monitoring Officers will be involved in the 
development of the detail of the Joint Committee.  

Page 15



The Joint Committee will be instigated through a simple ‘Arrangements’ document 
setting out the functions, membership and operation of the Committee as well as an 
Inter-Authority Agreement  setting out how the authorities will support the 
Committee.  These documents will be recommended for approval in the summer but 
a summary of the principles and issues to be covered are set out in this report.   

Somerset County Council has been the lead authority for the Governance work-
stream within the Partnership and the Council’s Chief Executive and Monitoring 
Officer have developed the outline proposal for the Joint Committee in consultation 
with the Leaders and Chief Executives Group.

Financial Implications

Costs associated with the early work on the Productivity Plan preparation largely 
relate to officer time which is being provided ‘in kind’ by the authorities and partners.   
Specifically some direct costs will be met by the Local Enterprise Partnership across 
the common agendas of the LEP and the partnership. 

The establishment of a Joint Committee provides a low cost option compared to a 
Combined Authority structure.  It is anticipated that the Committee will receive 
considerable in kind support from partners and direct running costs will be limited to 
potentially providing direct officer support for the meetings, if there is insufficient ‘in-
house’ capacity, and the costs of the meetings themselves.  In respect of the latter, 
meeting costs can be minimised through the use of council premises for meetings if 
that is the wish of the authorities.  The assumption at this stage is that the direct 
support costs will be kept to a minimum but could potentially rise to an estimated 
maximum of £40k per annum as a shared cost between all constituent authorities.  
The final costs figure will be dependent on the views of the leaders on the issues 
raised above.   Clarification on these issues will be sought before the decision point 
is reached in the summer to establish the Joint Committee.  It is anticipated at this 
stage that even if the costs are at the upper figure detailed above then in the first 
year (2017/18) of the operation of the Joint Committee the costs are likely to be 
covered by the residual devolution budget so requiring no further call for funding 
from the authorities. 

In addition to the direct costs of administering the Joint Committee there is also the 
issue of a budget to fund its work.  At this stage it is recommended that this should 
be an early issue for discussion and recommendation by the Joint Committee, once 
established, as this will be dependent on the eventual work programme.   

In coming to their decision about a Joint Committee, Members might like to consider 
the potential cost/impact of not working in this way and the potential loss of 
investment to the area.  Through recent funding initiatives and policy it is clear that 
Government is looking for areas to come together and articulate their vision and 
priorities across footprints wider than their organisational boundary or sub-regional 
areas.  The areas that work on wider boundaries are more successful in securing 
funding.  A recent example of this is the Growth Deal funding settlements announced 
in the Autumn Statement to the Northern Powerhouse and Midlands Engine 
authorities, who work through formal governance arrangements, when compared 
with the wider South West.   

Page 16



The proposal put before you sets out a low risk, low cost option to work in a more 
formal way to capitalise on opportunities arising from future Government strategies 
and funding strands.

Human Resources Implications:

There are none identified at this stage – using existing staff resources.

Sustainability Implications

n/a

Equality/Diversity

n/a

Risk Management

Risk implications will continue to be addressed at all stages of these proposals.    
The Secretary of State is yet to formally clarify his position on the HotSW devolution 
proposal although the overall policy direction seems to be becoming clearer.  In the 
circumstances the Leader feel that the partnership needs to move forward with the 
priority development of the HotSW Productivity Plan and that this can best be 
achieved through the establishment of a formal Joint Committee in place of the 
current informal governance arrangements.  This will put a formal governance 
structure around the Productivity Plan preparation, approval and delivery so 
minimising risk to the County Council and the other partner authorities.  It will give 
partners the ability to negotiate with Government at pace, particularly on the 
emerging Industrial Strategy but without the statutory commitment required to 
establish a Combined Authority.

Without a Productivity Plan and Joint Committee in place the Council and its partners 
will be at a disadvantage in negotiating and lobbying Government on a range or 
policy initiatives including the growth agenda and are likely to miss out on potential 
funding streams.  

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

n/a

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

The Deputy Leader comments as follows:

In principle I have support for this and although there is a risk of it going nowhere, I 
feel we should be a partner in this project at this time.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Page 17



The urgent and essential need to improve productivity across the HotSW area is the 
driver for the recommendations in this report.

The Productivity Plan will replace the Local Enterprise Partnership’s Strategic 
Economic Plan.  It will be the key strategic document for the partners to engage with 
Government on a range of investment opportunities and powers emerging from the 
Industrial Strategy and the National Infrastructure Fund.  

The recommendations also reflect the position reached with the Government on the 
Combined Authority / devolution deal matters.  With no agreement in sight on either 
issue the Leaders wish to put in place an alternative formal collaboration 
arrangement at HotSW level to maintain and take forward the momentum achieved 
by the partnership.    

The HotSW Joint Committee will provide a formal strategic partnership to 
complement and maximise the ability of local sub-regional arrangements to deliver 
their aspirations.  It will allow the partners to collaborate to agree and deliver the 
Productivity Plan as well as engage effectively with the Government, other deal 
areas and other LEPs on a range of policy agendas.  It will allow the partnership to 
test and improve its ability to work together as a potential precursor to the 
establishment of a Combined Authority at some point in the future.   It will also 
provide a mechanism to work alongside and influence the LEP on strategic 
investment decisions affecting the HotSW area and to secure improvements to LEP 
governance and accountability. 

Without a Joint Committee in place at this time at a strategic level, the HotSW area is 
likely to find itself disadvantaged in terms of taking advantage of Government policy 
initiatives and new funding opportunities compared to those areas that have and are 
establishing formal strategic partnerships.  Although a Joint Committee cannot 
undertake the full range of functions of a Combined Authority, it would provide a 
mechanism towards the establishment of a Combined Authority if deemed 
appropriate, including the potential to operate as a shadow Combined Authority at 
some point in the future.

Throughout the development of proposals for devolution, Members and the public 
have been kept informed of developments. Communications include press releases, 
newsletters and publication of the Devolution Statement of Intent and Prospectus for 
Productivity.  This emphasis on consultation will continue with the proposed 
Productivity Plan over the spring of 2017 and this will inform the final Plan to be 
approved in the autumn of 2017.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Full Council:

1. Notes the update about the HotSW Combined Authority / devolution deal 
proposals (including noting that a Joint Committee, if established, will have 
responsibility for developing future ‘deal’ and combined authority proposals for 
recommendation to the constituent authorities );

Page 18



2. Approves the proposals for the HotSW Productivity Plan preparation and 
consultation proposals (including noting that a Joint Committee, if established, will 
have responsibility for approving and overseeing the implementation of the 
Productivity Plan);

3. Agrees: 

(a) ‘In principle’ to the establishment of a HotSW Joint Committee with a 
Commencement Date of Friday 1st September 2017 in accordance with the 
summary proposals set out in this report; 

(b) That the ‘in principle’ decision at (a) above is subject to further 
recommendation and report to the constituent authorities after the County Council 
elections in May 2017 and confirmatory decisions to: approve  the establishment of 
the Joint Committee; a constitutional ‘Arrangements’ document; an ‘Inter-Authority 
Agreement’ setting out the support arrangements;  appoint  representatives to the 
Joint Committee; and appoint an Administering Authority.   

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation : 24.2.17
Officers Consulted – Councillor J Morrish 

Contact Officer: Jenny Wallace

Background Papers: Information provided from the Devolution Programme 
Management Office

Page 19



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Planning Manager
To: Full Council
Subject: Winkleigh Parish Neighbourhood Area Designation 
Date: 6th March 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To seek the designation of Winkleigh Civil Parish as a Neighbourhood 
Area under Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to seek an 
amendment to the current Scheme of Delegation to provide a new power for the Head of Paid 
Service to take future decisions relating to the designation of neighbourhood areas in particular 
circumstances.

1. INTRODUCTION
Winkleigh Parish Council has applied to Torridge District Council to seek the formal designation of 
the entirety of Winkleigh Civil Parish as a ‘neighbourhood area’;  the designation of a 
neighbourhood area being the first step in the process of preparing a Neighbourhood Development 
Plan (commonly referred to as a Neighbourhood Plan). This report seeks the formal designation of 
the requested neighbourhood area. 

Additionally, the report seeks to amend the Council’s current Scheme of Delegation to enable 
decisions to be taken in a timely manner in response to straight forward applications for 
Neighbourhood Area designations.

2. BACKGROUND
The Localism Act 2011 introduced legislation that has provided local communities more power to 
plan for the future of their areas, offering them the opportunity to prepare Neighbourhood Plans and 
Neighbourhood Development Orders. Once made (the term for their adoption) Neighbourhood 
Plans carry full weight as part of the statutory Development Plan for the area, from which due regard 
must be had when making decisions on planning applications.

The legislative framework governing the preparation of neighbourhood development plans is set out 
in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) along with a series of subordinate 
regulations. The power to designate a Neighbourhood Area being conveyed to local planning 
authorities under Section 61G of the Town and County Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 came into force on 1st April 2012 and set 
out the steps that must be achieved in order to progress the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan. 
The first formal step towards the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan is the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area, which is achieved through the application of a qualifying body to the relevant 
local planning authority.

A  ‘qualifying body’ is defined by legislation; comprising parish councils and others capable of being, 
or already designated as ‘neighbourhood forums’ in areas that are not governed by parish councils; 
with neighbourhood forums required to be designated by the local authority. A parish council, as a 
‘relevant body’ under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (Section 61G), is able to submit a 
neighbourhood area application to the local planning authority. 

Prior to 1st October 2016, under the regulations detailed above1, the local planning authority was 
obliged to publicise any application for the designation of a neighbourhood area as soon as possible 

1 Regulations 6 and 6A of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as amended.

Page 20

Agenda Item 8



after receipt to those living, working and doing business in the parish and invite comment on the 
proposal for a specified period. In doing so, the local planning authority was also obliged to 
determine the application within a set period, moving to designate the area unless there were 
justified reasons not to do so.

From 1st October 2016, amendments to the regulations came into force, which introduced a 
simplified process for considering applications for the designation of neighbourhood areas in 
particular circumstances. Specifically, the amended regulations introduced a streamlined process2 
for applications where:

1. the qualifying body is a parish council;
2. the proposed area consists the whole of the parish council’s area; and
3. if any part of the specified area is part of an existing neighbourhood area, none of 

that existing neighbourhood area extends outside of the parish council’s area. 

In such circumstances, the requirements for publicity and consultation on applications, along with 
the time periods for determination no longer apply. Rather, the local planning authority is explicitly 
directed that for such applications they must exercise their powers to designate the specified area 
as a neighbourhood area. As such, if a qualifying application meeting these requirements is 
submitted to a local planning authority, then it has no choice but to designate the area.

Neighbourhood Plans are required to be ‘pro-development’. They can not be used to stop 
development already allocated or permitted, or propose less development than that set out in the 
local Development Plan. However, the process provides an opportunity for local communities to 
work with the District Council in the preparation or delivery of additional sites for housing, 
employment or community uses, have a say on what development should look like and include 
other land use matters in their plan that are important to the community.

3. WINKLEIGH NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA DESIGNATION
Winkleigh Parish Council formally submitted an application to this Council (Appendix 1), in the form 
of a letter of the 26th January 2017, seeking the designation of the entirety of the Civil Parish of 
Winkleigh as a Neighbourhood Area. 

The application is considered to be duly made, comprising all of the information necessary to meet 
the requirements prescribed within the regulations, namely: 

 a map which identifies the area to which the area application relates, 
 a statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be designated as a 

neighbourhood area; and
 a statement that the Parish Council is a relevant body for the purposes of the related 

legislation.

The application is also considered to conform with the requirements of Regulation 5A that enable 
the simplified process for consideration of applications to be followed, in that the application is:

 from Winkleigh Parish Council, a qualifying parish council;
 the area specified within the application consists of the whole of the Civil Parish of 

Winkleigh, which comprises the whole of the parish council’s area; and
 no part of the area specified in the application is currently part of a neighbourhood area 

which extends outside of the parish council’s area.

On this basis, Regulation 5A(2) of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
dictates that the Council must exercise its powers under Section 61G of the 1990 Act and designate 
the specified area as a neighbourhood area. The Council is afforded no discretion in this process 

2 Regulation 5A of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as amended.

Page 21



and has no opportunity to deviate from designation if a valid application is received. On this basis, it 
is recommended (Recommendation 1) that the area contiguous with that of Winkleigh Civil Parish 
(Appendix 2) is designated as a Neighbourhood Area in accordance with Section 61G of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

Consequences of Neighbourhood Area Designation
Designation of a Neighbourhood Area is the first step in the preparation of a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. Once the Neighbourhood Area is designated the next stage is for the 
town/parish council to engage with their communities and prepare the Neighbourhood Plan. The 
process requires at least one formal 6 week consultation period on the draft Plan. Assistance from 
the District Council with this process may be required, and the Council is obligated to provide such 
in accordance a ‘duty of care and support’. However, the Localism Act makes it clear that 
Neighbourhood Plans should be led by parish/ town councils in consultation with their communities.

The draft Neighbourhood Plan will then be submitted to the District Council who will carry out a 
check to ensure that it has been prepared correctly and meets the right basic standards. The District 
Council will then undertake a further 6 week consultation. Following this the District Council will 
facilitate and fund an independent examination into the Neighbourhood Plan. Providing that the 
Examiner recommends that the Neighbourhood Plan is taken forward then a referendum will be 
called for which the District Council will be responsible for facilitating and funding. The 
Neighbourhood Plan requires the support of the majority of those who vote in the referendum.

If the referendum indicates community support the Neighbourhood Plan will normally then be 
adopted or ‘made’ by the District Council, and becomes part of the statutory development plan 
against which relevant planning applications will be determined. The District Council and other 
decision makers are obliged, by law, to take the Neighbourhood Plan into account when considering 
proposals for development in the subject area.

4. MANAGING SUBSEQUENT APPLICATIONS

Under this Council’s Constitution, as it stands, a decision on setting a Neighbourhood Area is 
required to be made by Full Council. As set out above, in the case where an application is from a 
qualifying parish council, the proposed area covers the full extent of the parish council’s area and no 
part of the proposed area is currently part of a neighbourhood area which extends outside of the 
parish council’s area, then the Council has no discretion in the decision on whether to take forward 
the designation of the Neighbourhood Area. 

Recognising that there is no discretion in such circumstances and that the legislation requires that 
designations must be made, delegated powers are sought to make such Neighbourhood Area 
designations. It is therefore proposed that delegated power be given to the Head of Paid Service, to 
take such decisions, in consultation with the relevant Members, which are proposed to be the Lead 
Member for Planning and the Ward Member of the applicant parish. 

Such an approach will enable this Council to better fulfil its obligations to positively support the 
process of Neighbourhood Plan preparation by enabling the timely designation of Neighbourhood 
Areas and helping to ensure that parish councils can efficiently progress on the road of preparing 
their Neighbourhood Plans.

It should be noted that the adjustment sought to the Scheme of Delegation relates only to 
applications for Neighbourhood Area designations that comply with the specific set of circumstances 
set out above, for which the Council has no discretion.
 
Applications for Neighbourhood Area designations that would not accord with these requirements, 
including those from a neighbourhood forum or where the area proposed for designation is not a 
Civil Parish, would still be subject to public consultation in accordance with the relevant legislation, 

Page 22



would still be brought before the Council for consideration. This recognises that in such 
circumstances discretion could still apply to their designation.

Additionally, any wider responsibilities relating to the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan that 
require a formal decision of this Council would continue to be brought to the attention of the relevant 
committee or Full Council.

5. IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
It is a statutory requirement to support the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans and for this Council 
to adopt, or ‘make’ them, if supported by the referendum. Failure to support Winkleigh Parish 
Council to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan could result in legal challenge with any subsequent 
consequences for the Council.

The Council is legally required through the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and associated 
subordinate regulations to consider and determine applications for the designation of 
neighbourhood areas. In the case of this application, the legislation requires that the Council 
designate the area specified in the application.

Financial Implications
The costs associated with designating the Neighbourhood Area can be met within existing Local 
Plan budgets. No budgetary provision is however in place to support the preparation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan, which as a minimum will include the cost of the examination and referendum, 
with additional costs, not including officer time, being needed to be met in relation to the 
administration of the process. 

Financial support is available from Central Government to support local planning authorities with 
their neighbourhood planning obligations. For the 2016/17 financial year, local planning authorities 
can currently claim £20,000 from Government for each Neighbourhood Plan, payable once a date is 
set for a referendum on a Plan following a successful examination. The Council is also currently 
able to claim £5,000 from Government on the successful designation of each of the first five 
neighbourhood areas within a local planning authority area. The designation of Winkleigh Civil 
Parish as a neighbourhood area would be the third of the five such designations within Torridge, 
following the previous designation of the parishes of Great Torrington and Bradworthy.

It is not possible to precisely estimate the cost that likely to be incurred by a local planning authority 
to support the preparation of a particular neighbourhood plan. This is because the costs of the 
examination are linked directly to its duration which will be very much dependant upon the 
complexity of the neighbourhood plan. Equally, the costs associated to the referendum will be 
directly linked to the scale of the local community within a neighbourhood area. 

Based upon experience elsewhere, the costs associated to the examination of a neighbourhood 
plan for a local planning authority could be expected to be in the region of £5,000-£10,000, 
dependant upon the complexity of the Plan and the scale of the issues covered. 

The costs associated to the holding of the referendum can be estimated more readily and the 
Elections team estimate that the cost associated to running the referendum for the Winkleigh is 
likely to be in the order of £1,800. 

Subject to no significant change to the level of grant funding available from Government in the 
future to support local planning authorities neighbourhood planning responsibilities, it is likely that 
the level of grant that can be claimed in relation to the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan for 
Winkleigh, is likely to broadly cover the level of anticipated expenditure incurred to meet the 
Council’s responsibilities.

Human Resources Implications

Page 23



The local planning authority has a duty to support communities making their Neighbourhood 
Plan(s): through the provision of advice and guidance, making evidence available, checking that the 
plan meets certain basic conditions and through the funding and organisation of the independent 
examination and referendum. The requirements of supporting the Neighbourhood Plan process will 
require staff resource from both Planning and Democratic Services, the explicit tasks relating to 
which are not included in current business plans. 
 
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
The development of a neighbourhood plan by a local community will need to comply with the 
provisions of national planning policy which is founded on the principles of sustainable 
development. As such, the preparation of a neighbourhood plan for Winkleigh should provide an 
opportunity for the advancement of sustainability. 

Equality/Diversity
Neighbourhood Plans, through a democratic process of consultation and referendum, provide an 
opportunity for all sectors of the local community to have a say in the future development of their 
area.

Risk Management
There are no direct risk implications arising form the designation of the Winkleigh Neighbourhood 
Area. A service level agreement between the District and Winkleigh Parish Council would usefully 
aid the management of the delivery process of the Neighbourhood Plan. At this time the District 
Council have no established protocol in respect of the level of resource it will provide in support of 
the Neighbourhood Plan process.

The scale of grant that can be claimed by the Council from Government to support its 
responsibilities in relation to the preparation of an individual neighbourhood plan has only been set 
for 2016/17 and maybe subject to future change, including the potential for reduction. Given that 
claims may only be made towards the end of the neighbourhood plan preparation process, which 
could be beyond the end of the period of current funding commitment, this could impact upon the 
financial resources available to the Council to support its neighbourhood planning obligations. 

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
There are no implications arising from this report. One of the basic conditions, which a 
Neighbourhood Plan must meet, is that it is in general conformity with the strategic policies 
contained in the local development plan.

Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Lead Member for Planning – Welcome the fact that Winkleigh Parish Council are taking the 
opportunity to develop a neighbourhood plan and shape the future of their area. Suggest that the 
Council keeps an eye on the costs associated with supporting neighbourhood planning to ensure 
that the available funding covers the outlay.

Ward Member for Winkleigh - I am pleased to support Winkleigh Parish Council in developing their 
Parish to have a designated Neighbourhood Plan which will enable them to have their Village 
Design Statement included. It will enable the Parish Council to have a greater involvement with 
developers before any new plans are submitted, this in turn should make people feel more involved 
in what is being built and developed in their parish.

6. CONCLUSIONS
The Winkleigh Neighbourhood Area application is considered to trigger the obligation, in 
accordance with Regulation 5A(2) of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, for 
the Council to designate the Civil Parish of Winkleigh as a neighbourhood area. As such, it is 
recommended that the area of Winkleigh Civil Parish is designated as a Neighbourhood Area in 
accordance with Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended.

Page 24



7. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Council are requested to consider the following recommendations:
1. That Winkleigh Civil Parish (as outlined on the map at Appendix 2 to this report) be designated as 
a Neighbourhood Area in accordance with Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as amended.

2. That the scheme of Delegations to Officers as set out within Chapter 2 of Part 3 of the Council’s 
adopted Constitution 2016 is amended to delegate additional authority to the Head of Paid Service, 
by inserting the following as an additional clause, to follow Section 38 of Part B2: 

 “Subject to prior consultation with the Lead Member for Planning and Development and 
relevant Ward Member(s), the determination, designation and/or making of a neighbourhood 
area following a valid application from a parish council that accords with Regulation 5A of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).”

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 15th February 2017
Members Consulted – Lead Member for Planning

 Ward Member for Winkleigh 
Officers Consulted -  Head of Paid Service 

 Solicitor 
 Strategic Manager (Resources) 

Contact Officer(s): David Green, Planning Manager/ Ian Rowland, Senior Planning Policy 
Officer

Background Papers: Torridge District Council Constitution; available at: 
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=726&p=0 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended; available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents 

Localism Act 2011; available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012; as amended: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made

The Neighbourhood Planning (General)(Amendment) Regulations 2015; 
available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/made 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development Management 
Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2012; available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/873/contents/made

Chief Planning Officer Letter from CLG: Update on financial support for 
neighbourhood planning in 2016/17; available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-guidance-letters-to-chief-
planning-officers 

Page 25

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=726&p=0
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/873/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-guidance-letters-to-chief-planning-officers
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-guidance-letters-to-chief-planning-officers


 

 

 

 

 

Lower Itton, Spreyton, Crediton, Devon EX17 5BB 

01837 89095, winkleighpc1@btconnect.com 

www.winkleighpc.org.uk 

 

Mr D. Green 

Planning Manager 

Torridge District Council 

Riverbank House 

Bideford 

EX39 2QG  

 

26
th

 January 2017         

 

 

Dear Mr Green 

 

Re: Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2013: 

Application for Designation of a Neighbourhood Area: Winkleigh Civil Parish 
 

Under the relevant legislation, as set out in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

Regulations 2012, Winkleigh Parish Council, being a “relevant body” as defined in 

Section 61(G) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, wishes to prepare a 

Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

 

As required by Regulation 5 of the Regulations, this Application for Designation of 

Neighbourhood Area is accompanied by the following: 

 

 A map which identifies the area to which the area application relates; 

 

 A statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be 

designated as a neighbourhood area; 

 

 A statement that the organisation or body making the area application is a 

relevant body for the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Town & Country 

Planning Act. 

 

We consider the defined area to be appropriate for designation for the following 

reasons: 

 

i) The area for which designation is sought covers the entire administrative area 

of Winkleigh Civil Parish. 

 

ii) The defined area has an existing sense of community which the Parish Council 

wishes to nurture and cultivate by creating a Neighbourhood Plan to meet the 

present and future needs of residents, businesses and organisations in a way 

Page 26

mailto:winkleighpc1@btconnect.com
http://www.winkleighpc.org.uk/
ian.rowland
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_1
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_2
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_3
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1

ian.rowland_5
Typewritten Text



that conserves and enhances the environment whilst ensuring community 

safety.  A Neighbourhood Plan will build on the vision for sustainable 

development set out in the Community Led Plan (published October 2014).  It 

will also include elements of the Village Design Statement (published 

November 2016). 

 

iii) In the interests of balance, the Parish wish to emphasise and support the 

suitable and sustainable development of the Old Airfield as the designated and 

most appropriate area for industrial development to support the local 

economy, thus reducing the industrialisation of the countryside which will 

support the well established tourist businesses in the area. 

iv) The Parish Council will work alongside Torridge District Council (which has 

a “duty to support”), residents and stakeholders as it has done in producing 

both a Community Led Plan (2014), Housing Needs Survey (2015) and an 

updated Village Design Statement (2016) as well as consultation of the 

emerging North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2011-2031). 

 

 

For the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Act this letter is our statement. 

 
 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

Melanie Borrett 
 

 

Melanie Borrett 

Responsible Finance Officer and Proper Officer 

To Winkleigh Parish Council 
 

 

Page 27



Proposed Neighbourhood Area Designation
Winkleigh Civil Parish
© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100022736 EUL.
You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with,
the organisation that provided you with the data.  You are not permitted to copy, 
sub-license, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Scale 1:50000

Date Produced : 15/02/2017

Boundary of proposed
Neighbourhood Area

Legend

Page 28

ian.rowland_6
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2

ian.rowland_7
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_8
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_9
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_10
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_11
Typewritten Text

ian.rowland_12
Typewritten Text



REPORT OF The Senior Solicitor
To: Full Council
Subject: Appointment of Non-Elected Representative 
Date: 6 March 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To approve a non-elected appointment to the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny (External) Committee.

1. INTRODUCTION

Independent non-elected representatives fulfil an important role on various committees and 
other groups across the whole remit of Council functions. Appointments to these roles are 
made by full Council, typically for a period of 4 years. 

2. REPORT

The Council’s Overview & Scrutiny (External) Committee currently has a vacancy for an 
independent non-elected representative. Following advertisement, interviews were 
undertaken in January and a candidate selected for appointment. 

This report therefore seeks approval to appoint Mr David Mason to the role of independent 
non-elected representative on the Councils Overview & Scrutiny (External) Committee for a 
term of 4 years.  

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
Full Council must approve all non-elected appointments

Financial Implications
While this is a voluntary role, non-elected members are able to claim mileage and out of 
pocket expenses related to the role. 

Human Resources Implications
None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
n/a

Equality/Diversity
n/a

Risk Management
n/a

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
n/a.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Interviews and subsequent selection of a candidate was undertaken by the Chair and Vice 
Chair of the Committee. 

Councillor Simon Inch: Mr Mason was a strong candidate with a wealth of relevant 
experience, and we look forward to working with him. 

4. CONCLUSIONS

Approval is sought for the non-elected appointment outlined in this report. 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Full Council approve the appointment of Mr David Mason to the role 
of independent non-elected representative on the Councils Overview & Scrutiny (External) 
Committee for a term of 4 years.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Councillors Simon Inch and Phil Pennington 

Contact Officer: Jamie Hollis 

Background Papers:

Page 30



REPORT OF Strategic Manager Resources
To: Full Council
Subject: Treasury Management Report
Date: 6 March 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To consider the Treasury Management Strategy, Prudential Indicators and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy for 2017/18.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Code of Practice on Treasury Management requires an annual report on Treasury 
Management Strategy to be prepared for the forthcoming financial year. In addition 
guidance issued under the Local Government Act 2003 recommends that an Annual 
Investment Strategy be adopted by Full Council together with the Prudential Indicators and 
the policy on Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

2. REPORT

The report for 2017/18 covers:

 The Treasury Management and Investment Strategy, which sets out the approach to 
managing the cash movements during the year (Appendix 1).

 The list of approved counterparties (Appendix 2).

 The Prudential Indicators, which show the impact on the Council’s financial position 
of the capital programme (Appendix 3).

 The MRP policy, which sets out how much will need to be set aside from the 
revenue budget to repay prudential borrowing (Appendix 4).

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
Guidance from the Secretary of State recommends that the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy is approved by full Council

Financial Implications
The financial implications are included within the revenue budget medium term financial 
strategy.

Human Resources Implications
There are no implications.

Sustainability Implications
There are no implications.

Equality/Diversity

Page 31

Agenda Item 10



The matter of ethical investment has previously been considered. There have been no 
significant changes that would enable ethical investment to take greater prominence when 
considering investments.

Risk Management
The Treasury Management and Investment Strategy define the risk that the Council is willing 
to accept.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
These are part of the report.

Ward Member and Leader Member Views
Date of Consultation – Cllr. Hackett – 24 February 2017 "Torridge District Council has 
fulfilled it’s obligations in accordance with Treasury Management Code of Practice. The 
Prudential Indicators show the impact on the Council’s financial position. The Indicators 
provide reassurance that the impact of approved capital programme is prudent in Treasury 
Management terms.”

4. CONCLUSIONS

The Strategy and Policy are being updated to reflect the capital programme and financial 
strategy that the authority has previously agreed.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Council approves:-

1) The Treasury Management and Investment Strategy and Counterparty List, Prudential 
Indicators and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 23 February 2017
Officers Consulted – 
Strategic Manager Resources

Contact Officer: Mike Norton – Senior Capital Accountant

Background Papers: Prudential Indicator calculations

Page 32



APPENDIX 1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for Year Ending 31 March 2018

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The proposed Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for the financial year 
2017/18 is set out in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. The Strategy is in line with the Prudential Indicators approved by Council.

2.0 BORROWINGS

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

No new long-term loans were taken out with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) during 
2016/17. 

Borrowings from PWLB at 31 March 2017 will total £1.239m. The next scheduled 
redemption occurs in March 2018 when a maturity type loan of £0.096m will be settled. 
Further ahead there are 7 fixed interest rate loans outstanding totalling £1.143m with 
redemption dates that run from March 2019 to March 2027.  

The approved Prudential Indicators do not envisage that any further long-term borrowing 
will be undertaken in the year 2016/17. The Waste Review report approved by Full Council 
on 23rd January 2017, highlighted the potential requirement for up to £4.00m of external 
borrowing linked to the purchase of a new depot and this was incorporated into the 2017/18 
Capital Programme.  

The Prudential Indicators on Appendix 3 to this report have been compiled on the 
assumption that the borrowing will take place in the 2017/18 financial year however the 
timing will be dependent upon the progress made with the project, the financial climate and 
the availability of internal resources. 

The Council will ensure that borrowing will only be undertaken when it is identified that 
there is a need to do so.

The existing debt and loan schedule was considered in 2016/17 and it was concluded that 
there was no advantage from re-scheduling or early redemption of existing loans.

3.0 INVESTMENTS

3.1

3.2

3.3

The Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year is prepared in accordance with 
guidance issued under the Local Government Act 2003. 

On 31st March 2017 short-term investments placed with financial institutions are estimated 
to be approximately £14m. The bulk of this amount represents the balances on Reserves 
and Usable Capital Receipts.

The Capital Programme for 2017/18 will be financed from capital receipts, grants and 
contributions, revenue contributions, reserves and borrowing. Following the construction of 
the new Agri-business centre in Holsworthy a total of £1.2m prudential borrowing is 
outstanding. This is matched by a deferred capital receipt of due from the sale of the former 
livestock market site and is due to be fully settled by September 2017. Internal borrowing 
may also be utilised in the implementation of parts of the Waste Review and this will reduce 
the funds available for investment.

Page 33



3.4

3.5

The Investment Strategy during 2016/17 has been to spread the maturity of investments to 
take advantage of the small premium for investing for longer periods whilst matching 
ongoing cashflow requirements including the delivery of the capital programme.

The Investment Strategy for 2017/18 will be to spread the investments across 
counterparties to minimise risk. Investment periods are expected to lengthen due to the 
higher level of cash balances and to maximise the limited returns available whilst interest 
rates are expected to remain at their current level. It is anticipated that the level of 
investments will reduce during the implementation of the Waste Review project.

4.0 INTEREST RATES

4.1

4.2

4.3

During 2016/17 the Bank of England Bank Base Interest Rate was reduced from 0.5% to 
0.25% following the referendum vote on EU Membership.
    
The interest rate forecasts in the February 2017 Bank of England Inflation Report indicate 
an expectation that the Bank Base Rate move upwards to 0.75% by early 2020. The 
consequences arising from the EU referendum decision has introduced uncertainties into 
the economy. The value of sterling has fallen 18% making exported good more competitive 
whilst the price of imported goods has become more expensive and in turn this has caused 
inflationary pressures. The level of uncertainty is likely to increase when Article 50 has been 
triggered. GDP growth is forecast to remain strong at 1.6% through to 2019.

Short-term interest rates are around 0.25% for 3 months rising to 0.62% approaching one 
year. Long-term interest rates (1 year and beyond) have remain subdued because of low 
gilt prices and are currently below 2.0%. Interest rates available to the Torridge will be 
slightly lower because of the limited names on Counterparty List and the size of the 
amounts that we invest.

5.0 COUNTERPARTY LIST & LIQUIDITY FRAMEWORK

5.1

5.2

5.3

The security of an investment should be considered paramount together with liquidity to 
ensure that an investment will be repaid on the due date. These will be considered of 
greater importance than yield. Investment yield will only be considered after security, 
liquidity and market sector risk have been evaluated.

In order to minimise the risk from a failed deposit-taker the Council have previously set a 
maximum investment of £1m with the maximum holding with any institution of £3m. 
Subsequent to new bank “stress testing” introduced in Europe to verify their strength and 
resilience new regulations have been introduced. The “bail-in” regime adopted by the 
United Kingdom government in January 2015 places the emphasis on investors to support 
(“bail-in” to) a financially troubled bank rather than the government “bailing it out”. As a 
result of this all credit ratings agencies have reviewed their counterparty ratings to reflect 
the withdrawal of sovereign country support. There has been little change to the council’s 
approved counterparty list with the minimum acceptable rating set at Fitch F1.  

The Authority will only undertake Specified Investments, which are for periods of less than 
365 days and denominated in sterling. Such investments can only be made with the United 
Kingdom Government, another local authority, or a body awarded a high credit rating by a 
credit rating agency. The Authority will not undertake Non-specified Investments. This 
strategy will avoid being locked into lower rates when interest rates rise and to ensure 

Page 34



5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

flexibility to fund the capital programme.  

For the purposes of this Strategy a high credit rating is defined as short-term F1 or better as 
rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. The Senior Capital Accountant maintains a counterparty list 
comprising UK Government Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and 
building societies with a minimum credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority 
market. Guidance recommends that other factors and information such as the sovereign 
rating of a country or market data regarding the sector or the counterparty should also be 
considered. 

Capita Asset Services Treasury Solutions (formerly known as Sector) are engaged as the 
council’s external Treasury advisors. As part of their service they undertake a monthly 
review of investments held and produce a report to confirm the credit strength of 
investments held. 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our 
external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in employing external 
providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular 
review.

The list attached at Appendix 2 contains counterparties comprising UK Government 
Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and building societies with a minimum 
credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority market. The Credit ratings of the 
Counterparty List will be monitored at least quarterly and that any consequent additions or 
deletions to the list of counterparties will be reported to Council for approval. Credit ratings 
of relevant counterparties will be checked on the day of (and prior to) the investment being 
placed. Some counterparties are not taking further deposits as they do not require further 
funding and this could limit our ability to invest at the most beneficial rates from time to time.

It is inevitable that as part of daily transactions and cash management, sums will be held 
with the council’s bankers consistent with the council’s cash management needs. The 
council appointed Lloyds Bank as its bankers with effect from 1 January 2015 for 5 years.

The Council has previously approved Svenska Handelsbanken to operate a call/short term 
notice account and will be operated when the interest rates on offer are competitive. 
Interest rates on call accounts will vary from time to time and it may be necessary to 
change providers from time to time.

6.0 DELEGATION

6.1 It should be recognised that the background to this Strategy may change very quickly which 
is why the detailed operation of the Treasury Management function is delegated to the 
S151 Officer. 
The S151 (responsible) officer is responsible for:-

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
 submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

Page 35



recommending the appointment of external service providers.

Members should recognise that decisions often have to be taken quickly in the light of 
prevailing circumstances and that the strategy may therefore need to change during the 
course of the year.
The Council’s Community and Resources Committee receive reports on treasury 
management policies, practices and activities and make recommendations to full Council.

7.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT  INDICATORS

7.1 The Indicators for Treasury Management are as follows;

7.2 The Council must set limits to contain the activity of the treasury function within certain 
limits. An upper limit is required on its fixed and variable interest rate exposures for 
outstanding principal sums on both borrowing and investment.

Upper limit on 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
interest rate 
exposure % 
Principal 
outstanding

Estimate Forecast 
Actual 
for 31st 
March

Estimate Estimate Estimate

Fixed Interest 
Rate Exposures

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Variable Interest 
Rate Exposures

20% 0% 20% 20% 20%

   

      
7.3 Upper and lower limits are needed for the maturity structure of borrowing. The amount of 

projected borrowing that is at a fixed rate maturing in each period as a percentage of 
total projected borrowing that is fixed rate at the start of the period:

2016/17
Actual

Lower limit Upper limit

Under 1 year 3% 0% 30%
1 year < 2 years 7% 0% 30%
2 years < 5 years 26% 0% 60%
5 years < 10 years 49% 0% 60%
10 years and above 15% 0% 100%

7.4

8.0

There are no proposals for the Council to invest sums for periods longer than 364 days.

The CIPFA Code requires the Responsible Officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny. The need for 
Member training in treasury management will be revisited during 2017/18.

Page 36



Appendix 2

List of Approved Counter-parties for deposits (up to 364 days) as at 24 
February 2017

Counterparty Comments
Coventry Building Society Regularly used for deposits up to 182 days
Nationwide Building Society Regularly used for deposits up to 364 days
Santander (UK division) Occasionally used 
Barclays Bank plc Regularly used for deposits up to 364 days
Close Brothers Group plc includes Close Brothers Limited. Rarely in market for 

funds for 364 days or less so limited use.
HSBC Bank plc Takes funds via a non Fitch F1 subsidiary firm-so 

never used.
Lloyds Bank plc includes Halifax and Bank of Scotland subsidiaries. 

Regularly used for deposits up to 364 days
Svenska Handelsbanken Reserved for call/short term deposits up to 90 days
Leeds Building Society Regularly used for deposits up to 180 days
Yorkshire Building Society Regularly used for deposits up to 90 days

Investment in the above is subject to the counterparty having credit rating of F1 short 
term or better as rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. At the time of investment and subject to 
counter-party limits.

The maximum single deal size is £1m

The maximum holding is £3m per counterparty. 

Investments may also be placed with United Kingdom Government Departments, 
agencies and other UK Local Government Authorities.   

Up to £5m may be held from time to time with the council’s bankers Lloyds in order to 
meet financial commitments as and when they are due.

During 2016/17 RBS & its subsidiaries (Nat West & Ulster Bank etc.) were 
downgraded by Fitch to F2 from F1. No further investments have been placed with 
RBS.

Page 37



APPENDIX 3

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

1. The Prudential Code was introduced in response to the Local Government Act 2003 and 
regulations require local authorities to have regard to it when considering capital 
expenditure and financing. It requires Members to approve a number of Prudential 
Indicators in relation to the Capital Programme for the next three years. These are set out in 
succeeding paragraphs in the format required by the Code, which at times is extremely 
technical. 

A cautious approach has been adopted in operating of the Code. The following indicators 
are a continuation of the practices adopted in recent years and the uncertainty in the 
financial markets. 

2. The estimates of capital expenditure and finance for the current and future years that are 
recommended for approval are:

Capital 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Expenditure Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Total Programme 3,028 2,000 8,466 6,802 1,135
  less
Grants & 

Contributions
355 598 520 2,900 300

Torridge Resources 2,673 1,402 3,946 3,902 835

Net financed by 
borrowing

    
  0     0 4,000 0

  
0

It should be recognised that the estimates for 2017/18 to 2019/20 are based on the 
schemes approved to date. Any additional schemes will be funded from the Council’s own 
resources and will not involve additional prudential borrowing.

3. The estimated Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for the authority at the end of the 
current and future years, is:

31.3.2017 31.3.2017 31.3.2018 31.3.2019 31.3.2020
Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital 
Financing 
Requirement

1,749 1,769 5,159 4,913 4,668

The CFR represents the underlying position as a result of financing decisions taken in 
earlier years plus new borrowing planned in the current and future year’s capital 
programmes.  

Page 38



4. The Prudential Code includes the following as a key indicator of prudence:

“In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a 
capital purpose, the local authority should ensure that net external borrowing 
does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.”

31.3.2017 31.3.2017 31.3.2018 31.3.2019 31.3.2020
Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Borrowing 1,251 1,251   5,155  4,964   4,826
Investments 11,597  14,001 12,001 12,001 12,001

Net Borrowing (10,346)  (12,750)   (6,846) (7,037) (7,175)

The above table shows that the net borrowing is less than the Capital Financing 
Requirement as shown in 3 above, thus confirming that borrowing is for capital purposes 
only. 

Bracketed totals indicate that investment income exceeded borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities.

5. In respect of its external debt the Council must set an Authorised Limit for its external debt 
gross of investments for the current and following three financial years. External debt 
includes both borrowing and the long term liability of leases and implied leases.

Authorised 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Limit for Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate
External Debt £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowing 5,651 5,651 9,555 9,364 9,226

The S151 Officer reports that these authorised limits are consistent with the authority’s 
current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the budget report for capital 
expenditure and financing, and with its approved treasury management policy statement 
and practices. The S151 Officer confirms that they are based on the estimate of most likely, 
prudent but not worst case scenario, with additional sufficient headroom over and above 
this to allow for operational management, for example unusual cash movements. Risk 
analysis and risk management strategies have been taken into account, as have plans for 
capital expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and estimates of cash 
flow requirements for all purposes.

In taking its decisions on this report, the Council is asked to note that the Authorised Limit 
determined for 2016/17 Forecast, 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 will be the statutory limit 
determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003.

Page 39



6. The Council must also set an Operational Boundary for external debt for the same time 
period. The proposed operational boundary is based on the same estimates as the 
Authorised Limit but reflects directly the S151 Officer’s estimate of the most likely, prudent 
but not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom included within the authorised 
limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements, and equates to the maximum of 
external debt projected by this estimate. The Operational Boundary represents a key 
management tool for in year monitoring by the S151 Officer.

Operational 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Boundary for Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate
External Debt £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowing 2,252 2,252 6,156 5,956 5,827

It should be noted that actual external debt is not directly comparable to either the 
Authorised Limit or Operational Boundary, since the external debt reflects the position at 
one point in time. 

7. Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for the current and future 
years are:

Ratio of Financing 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream

Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

Council Tax 0.41% 0.69% 0.64% 3.52% 3.40%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this 
budget report.

8. Estimates of the incremental impact of financing costs on the Council Tax for the current 
and future years are:

Incremental Impact 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
On Council Tax Estimate Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate

Change on previous 
year

(£0.47) £1.18 £0.05 £11.36 (£1.25)

The estimate of incremental impact reflects the change in net costs of financing and 
includes current commitments and the proposals in this budget report.

Bracketed figures indicate that investment income exceeded interest and other costs 
payable. 

Page 40



9. The Capital Financing Requirement is the authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital 
purpose. In accordance with best professional practice, Torridge District Council does not 
associate borrowing with particular items or types of expenditure. The authority has an 
integrated Treasury Management Strategy and has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management in the Public Services. Torridge District Council has, at any point in 
time, a number of cash flows both positive and negative, and manages its treasury position 
in terms of its borrowings and investments in accordance with its approved Treasury 
Management Strategy and practices. In day-to-day cash management, no distinction can 
be made between revenue cash and capital cash. The Council’s actual external debt at 31 
March 2016 was £1.277m.  External borrowing arises as a consequence of all the financial 
transactions of the authority and not simply those arising from capital spending. In contrast, 
the Capital Financing Requirement in 3 above measures the authority’s underlying need to 
borrow for a capital purpose.

10. In considering its programme for capital investment, the Council is required within the 
Prudential Code to have regard to:

 Service Objectives, e.g. strategic planning for the authority
 Stewardship of Assets, e.g. asset management planning
 Value for Money, e.g. option appraisal
 Prudence and Sustainability, e.g. implications for external borrowing and whole life 

costing
 Affordability, e.g. implications for Council Tax
 Practicality, e.g. achievability of the forward plan.

Page 41



APPENDIX 4

POLICY ON MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP)

1.0 BACKGROUND

Local authorities are required to make a minimum repayment of outstanding debt. 
Regulations require that local authorities determine their own policy. Associated 
guidance requires that only full Council can determine the policy.

2.0 GUIDANCE ON MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP)

The main stipulation included in the regulations in determining a policy is that it 
ensures that the repayments are prudent. The Local Government Act 2003, as 
amended, requires that the policy has regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary 
of State.

Revised guidance issued by the Secretary of State on 11 March 2010 to deal with 
some accounting changes continues the four options to calculate MRP, which can be 
combined as authorities see fit, in order to reach a prudent level of provision. The 
options are as follows;

Option 1: Regulatory Method
MRP is equal to the amount determined in accordance with the former regulations
28 and 29 of the 2003 Regulations, as if they had not been revoked by the 2008 
Regulations. For the purposes of that calculation, the adjustment A should 
normally continue to have the value attributed to it by the authority in the financial 
year 2004-05. 

Option 2: Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) Method
MRP is equal to 4% of the non-housing CFR at the end of the preceding financial 
year.

Option 3: Asset Life Method
Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by borrowing or 
credit arrangements, MRP is to be determined by reference to the life of the asset.

Option 4: Depreciation Method
MRP is to be equal to the provision required in accordance with depreciation 
accounting in respect of the asset on which expenditure has been financed by 
borrowing or credit arrangements. This should include any amount for impairment 
chargeable to the Income and Expenditure Account.

From 2010/11 the Council adopted option 2 for capital expenditure from borrowing or 
a credit arrangement prior to 1 April 2010 and option 3 for capital expenditure financed 
from borrowing or a credit arrangement after that date as its policy. 

The CFR is the notional amount borrowed to finance capital and is calculated from the 
Council’s balance sheet and represents past expenditure that has not been funded 
from capital receipts, grants or revenue contributions. MRP is the charge to the 
General Fund as the repayment of principal on this notional borrowing and will reduce 
the CFR for future years.

Page 42



3.0 POLICY ON MRP

That MRP is calculated as follows;

 For capital expenditure financed by an actual or implied credit arrangement 
then it is equivalent to the value to which the liability for that arrangement is 
reduced.

 For capital expenditure that is initially financed by borrowing or credit 
arrangement but is due to be partly or fully financed by a future capital receipt 
then it is calculated by reference to the expected future net amount to be 
financed by borrowing or credit arrangement. If the actual amount of the 
capital receipt applied is different to that expected then it is recalculated by 
reference to the revised net amount.

 For capital expenditure financed from borrowing or a credit arrangement on 
the basis of generating future income or revenue saving then it will be 
calculated such that there is no net additional cost to the Council either as set 
out in the project approval or as otherwise determined by the S151 Officer. In 
any event the repayment period cannot be greater than the expected life of the 
asset.

 For capital expenditure not falling within any of the categories above and 
financed from borrowing or a credit arrangement prior to1 April 2010 it is 
calculated at 4% of CFR at the end of the preceding financial year. 

 For capital expenditure not falling within any of the categories above and 
financed from borrowing or a credit arrangement from 1 April 2010 is 
determined by reference to the life of the asset.

Page 43



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Council Leader, Lead Member for Internal Resources and HR Manager

To: Full Council

Subject: Pay Policy requirements of the Localism Act

Date: March 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:

1. This report invites Members to agree to a Pay Policy statement, in accordance with the requirements 
of the Localism Act

2. The report does not ask Members to agree to any changes to the Pay Policy or the remuneration of 
senior officers.  

1. INTRODUCTION

Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) requires English and Welsh local authorities to 
produce a statutory pay policy statement for each financial year. 

2. REPORT

Current Approach to Pay and Reward

About 9 years ago, the Council modernised its pay and reward arrangements through the 
implementation of single status. With the exception of the most senior managers,  all staff are on 
grades within a single pay spine, with their terms and conditions reflecting a nationally agreed 
package (known as the ‘Green Book’). In general terms, these arrangements are owned and 
accepted by colleagues, perhaps as best evidenced by the absence of a ‘grading appeal’ culture. All 
grades provide opportunity for progression by annual increments and other than operational staff 
most colleagues have opportunity to attain a work-life balance by using ‘flexi-time’.

The Council’s most senior officers are paid on ‘spot salaries’, set by the Council with the benefit of 
external advice. The salary for the Head of Paid Service was set prior to her appointment in 2012 
whilst the pay of the Strategic Manager was set by Full Council prior to their recruitment in 
Autumn 2014. The salaries for these two officers will be increased by 1.0% from April 2017 in 
accordance with a national pay settlement and as allowed for in arrangements agreed when Full 
Council agreed last year’s Pay Policy.

Pay Policy Statement 

Annex A is a draft Pay Policy which, subject to the approval of Full Council, will be published on the 
Council’s web-site. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 11



The Pay Policy is a statement of current practice and can be altered by Full Council at any time. In 
any event a Pay Policy statement for 2018/19 and so on will in the future have to be specifically 
agreed each financial year. 

The Act requires that the Pay Policy statement applies specifically to Chief Officers (a term which 
includes both statutory Chief Officers and non statutory Chief Officers) and it is proposed that at 
Torridge this includes those officers whose terms and conditions reflect those determined by the 
Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities and specifically the Head of 
Paid Service and Strategic Managers. 

The Pay Policy and the Appendix to that policy (also attached) meets the requirements of the Act 
and has regard to both guidance and recommended practice. In particular, regard has been paid to 
the Hutton Report (on public sector pay) which was published in 2011. Hutton concluded that the 
most appropriate metric for calculating pay dispersion is the multiple of chief executive to median 
earnings.  He also concluded that tracking this multiple will ensure public service organisations are 
accountable for the relationship between the pay of their executives and the wider workforce. The 
current multiples are set out in the appendix to the Pay Policy.

The draft Pay Policy Statement indicates that the Council will track this multiple annually and will 
also publish the following information (included as an Annex to the Policy):

 the level and elements of remuneration for each senior officer;

 the remuneration of the lowest paid employee;

 the relationship between the remuneration of the Council’s senior officers and other 
officers;

 other specific aspects of senior officer remuneration, and

 the multiple of chief executive to the average or mean earnings, which is another metric 
for pay dispersion referred to in guidance.

Future Developments

The Act does not require employers to review their remuneration arrangements for all or any staff 
and nothing in the Act or the guidance supersedes the existing responsibilities that a Council has as 
an employer. Equally, nothing in the Act or the guidance gives the Council any authority to 
unilaterally alter existing terms and conditions of employment. In his most recent correspondence 
the Secretary of State only refers to Members voting on a package at the time of appointment and 
termination.

With regard to any future Management changes Members can be assured that by agreeing to this 
Policy now, it will not preclude the development of revised arrangements for whatever senior posts 
may exist in the future. Indeed, the Policy confirms that if such posts are to be ‘Chief Officers’ then 
the pay attached to such posts can only be set by Full Council with the benefit of external advice.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

Publication of a Pay Policy is a requirement of the Localism Act

Financial Implications

Page 45



There are no immediate financial implications. .

Human Resources Implications

Determining pay and reward arrangements has the potential to fundamentally alter the 
employment relationship and any changes need to be handled with care. 

Sustainability Implications

Equality/Diversity

Any changes to pay and reward arrangements must be ‘equality proofed’

Risk Management

Not having an updated published Pay Policy in place would represent an unacceptable risk to the 
Council’s reputation.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

Ward Member and Leader Member Views

I have seen and support the pay policy which is fundamentally the same policy as last year

4. CONCLUSIONS

The reward arrangements for senior officers are very transparent and reflect external advice. 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Council should approve the Pay Policy

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Leader and Deputy – February 2017
Lead Member for Internal resources – February 2017

Contact Officer: Sarah Ayres
Human Resources Manager

Page 46



Torridge District Council

Pay Policy Statement – as at March 2017

Purpose and Scope of the Policy

1. Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 requires English and Welsh local authorities to 
produce a statutory pay policy statement for 2012/13 and for each financial year after that. 

2. In the context of managing scarce public resources, the Council seeks to balance the need to 
set pay levels that are adequate to secure and retain high-quality employees dedicated to the 
service of the public, with a need to ensure that pay is not unnecessarily generous or 
otherwise excessive.  The Council also recognises that individuals have contractual and other 
rights that cannot be altered unilaterally by the Council.

3. Over recent years the Council has modernised its pay and reward arrangements through the 
implementation of single status and by setting the pay of its most senior officers with the 
benefit of external advice. In addition, the pay of senior officers has been published on the 
Councils web site.

4. This pay policy statement applies to those officers whose terms and conditions reflect those 
determined by the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities. For the 
purposes of this policy the Council’s Chief Officers are the:

 Head of Paid Service
 Strategic Manager (Resources)
 Strategic Manager (Services)

5. The Hutton Report (on public sector pay, published in 2011) outlined that the most 
appropriate metric for pay dispersion is the multiple of Chief Executive to median earnings.  It 
suggests that tracking this multiple will ensure public service organisations are accountable 
for the relationship between the pay of their executives and the wider workforce. Through this 
pay policy statement, the Council will track this multiple annually and will also publish the 
following information (please see the Appendix):

 The level and elements of remuneration for each of the posts identified in paragraph 4 
above;

 Other specific aspects of remuneration associated with these posts.

 The remuneration of the lowest paid employees;

 The multiple of Head of Paid Service salary to median 

 The multiple of Head of Paid service salary to the average or mean earnings, which is 
another metric for pay dispersion.

Page 47



Specific Policy Aspects

6. The pay for Chief Officers reflect ‘spot’ salaries, which are a specific sum, not related to a 
grade with increasing levels of pay. When setting or revising salaries for these posts: 

 The Council will make comparisons with similar organisations, with an aim to paying at 
or around the median comparable salary level.

 The Council will take independent pay advice from South West Councils. In addition, 
where senior roles also include responsibilities for other organisations the Council will 
confer with those organisations about appropriate remuneration arrangements.

 The Leader will then make recommendations which will be subject to the approval of 
Full Council.    

 In formulating his/her recommendations, the Leader will have due regard to balance 
the need to ensure value for money with the need for the Council to recruit and retain 
high quality senior officers in the context of national, regional and local labour markets 
and the particular circumstances or challenges faced at that time. This may include any 
market supplement. 

 In any event, other than any cost of living increase (that will be made in line with 
National Joint Council recommendations), any changes to the remuneration packages 
for these officers will be subject to Full Council approval.

7.  Consistent with the relevant national terms and conditions, Chief Officers are required to 
devote their whole time service to the work of the Council (which may for this purpose also 
include other organisations where there is responsibility for such activities) and cannot 
engage in business or take up other paid employment without the express permission of the 
Council. In addition, and although these officers are employed for a notional 37 hours per 
week, they are expected to work such additional hours as may be reasonably required, 
without additional recompense or time off in lieu.

8. Any termination payments to Chief Officers on ceasing office will, in the event of redundancy, 
comply with the Council’s policy for managing change.   Any other payments on termination 
of employment will accord with the arrangements set out in the Council’s constitution and 
scheme of delegation. 

9.  Additional payments are made by Central Government to officers carrying out additional 
duties at elections.  These payments are not within the scope of this policy.

Monitoring 

10.Through this policy the pay multiple of the Head of Paid Service will be monitored annually.  
Should the multiplier between the annual salary paid to a full time employee (excluding any 
apprentices) on the lowest spinal column point and the annual salary paid to the Head of Paid 
Service be greater than 10, this will be reported by the Leader of the Council to Full Council 
for consideration. 

11.  Annual monitoring of this policy will take place in relation to each forthcoming financial year. 
As at 31 March 2017 the pay multiple will be 5.81.

Page 48



Outcomes

12.  In determining this policy the Council will ensure that the process for setting pay at a senior 
level is transparent.  This policy will be reviewed annually to track the relationship of Chief 
Officer pay with the rest of the workforce. Other reviews may take place as determined 
appropriate from time to time.

Policy/Strategy Consultation

14. This policy has been agreed by Full Council.

Equality Impact Considerations

15. The principles of equal pay are integral to this policy. The Council ensures equal pay through 
a transparent job evaluation process for the majority of posts and by having regard to 
external advice when setting the pay of its most senior officers, as identified in this policy.

Page 49



Appendix

The levels and elements of remuneration for each Chief Officer are:

The full time rate of pay for the lowest paid employee is as follows (not including apprentices):

The multiplier of the remuneration of the Head of Paid Service and other officers based upon 
taxable earnings:

The pay multiple this is calculated by comparing the pay of the Head of Paid Service with the 
average (or mean) and median basic pay levels.

Post Title Remuneration

Head of Paid Service £84,308.74

Strategic Manager (Resources) £63,872.00

Strategic Manager (Services) Vacant post

Post Title   Remuneration

Cleaner £14,514.00

Post Title

Annual Median Pay of all employees, if they 
were employed full time £19,939.00

Pay multiple of Head of Paid Service to Median 
salary 4.23

Pay multiple of Head of Paid Service to lowest 
paid employee, if they were employed full time 5.81

Pay multiple of Head of Paid Service to mean 
salary if everyone was employed full time 3.70

Page 50



REPORT OF Senior Solicitor 
To: Full Council
Subject: Standards Committee Determination – Cllr David Brenton
Date: 6 March 2017 Reference: JH

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To advise full Council of the outcome of the recent Standards Committee determination in relation to 
Councillor David Brenton.  

1. INTRODUCTION

The Council’s Standards Committee met on 30 January 2017 to consider allegations of a 
breach of the Members Code of Conduct by Councillor David Brenton. Following 
consideration of the matter, the Committee resolved that its findings should be reported to 
full Council. 

2. REPORT

A copy of the Standards Committee’s decision notice is attached at Appendix A to this 
report.

The Committee also resolved that a censure should be issued to Councillor Brenton, and 
that it should be recommended to his Group Leader that he be removed from the Standards 
Committee. Accordingly a letter of censure has been delivered, and the relevant request 
made to the appropriate Group Leader in accordance with these resolutions. 

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
There are none identified

Financial Implications
There are none identified

Human Resources Implications
There are none identified

Sustainability Implications
There are none identified

Equality/Diversity
There are none identified

Risk Management
There are none identified

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
There are none identified

Page 51

Agenda Item 12



Ward Member and Leader Member Views

Councillor Ken Carroll, Chair of Standards Committee: It is vital that the rules that apply to 
exempt and confidential information are upheld, as a failure to do so can have severe 
implications for the Council. The Standards Committee was very concerned by the 
allegations in this matter, and this is reflected in the unanimous resolution to impose the 
sanctions set out in the decision notice.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Council is asked to note the findings of the Standards Committee as set out in the attached 
decision notice. 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Council note the Standards Committee’s findings of 30 January 2017 as set out in the 
attached decision notice. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: As detailed in the report

Contact Officer: Jamie Hollis 

Background Papers: Members Code of Conduct 

Page 52



Decision Notice – Ref LIT/009/16     
Councillor David Brenton 
31 January 2017 
 
 
Complaint 

On 30 January 2016, the Standards Committee of this authority considered a complaint in relation to 

the conduct of Councillor David Brenton, a member of Torridge District Council. 

The complaint relates to an allegation that Councillor Brenton has disclosed information to the press 

which the Council deemed to be exempt in nature in breach of the Members Code of Conduct. The 

allegations potentially constitute a breach of Paragraph 5 (disclosure of confidential information), 6 

(leading the Council to be in breach of legislation) & 7 (having regard to advice provided to you by 

the Council’s officers) of the Code of Conduct for Members. 

Decision 

The Standards Committee considered the facts and found that: 

 The Community & Resources meeting on 23 May had properly entered into Part II (Closed 

Session). 

 That Councillor Brenton had seconded the motion to enter Part II and had voted 

accordingly. 

 That information thereby classified as exempt or confidential was released by Councillor 

Brenton to the press soon after the relevant meeting without consent. 

Having considered the evidence before it, as well as the written and verbal representations of 

Councillor Brenton and his legal representative, the Standards Committee found that Councillor 

Brenton had breached the following provisions of the Torridge District Council Code of Conduct for 

Members: 

 Paragraph 5 (i): You must not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you or provided to you by the Council which you believe, or ought 

reasonably to believe, is of a confidential nature or is capable of being treated as 

confidential. 

 Paragraph 7: You must have regard to any relevant advice provided to you by the Council’s 

officers and other external bodies or officers. 

Sanctions 

In light of the above findings, the Standards Committee resolved to impose the following sanctions: 

 To issue a censure to Councillor Brenton; 

 To report the findings of the Standards Committee 30 January 2017 meeting to Full Council; 

 Recommend to Councillor Brenton’s Group Leader that Councillor Brenton is removed from 

Torridge District Council’s Standards Committee. 

Page 53

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/


A motion under Council Procedure Rule 10 was submitted by Councillor Bibb. 
 

“During recent weeks there has been great focus in the media on the 
provision of services by the NHS. Here in West Lindsey there are places 
within the district where appointments with a doctor involve a 4 week wait, 
longer than the national average quoted, and a very different experience to 
that found in many urban areas. This is in part due to the inability to attract 
GP’s to serve in a rural area.  
 
At a recent meeting of the West Lindsey Health Commission this issue was 
given consideration and a suggestion was put forward, based on an idea 
originating from Cllr. Reg Shore, that this Council ask our MP, Sir Edward 
Leigh, to lobby the Secretary of State for Health to introduce a scheme of 
‘rural weighting’ for GP’s who accept positions in areas such as 
Gainsborough. Similar to the accepted practice of ‘London weighting’, such 
a scheme would act to attract the needed physicians and in turn would 
facilitate the better provision of health services.  
 
Furthermore, we would like to encourage other rural authorities to support 
us in this and lobby their MP’s as well. To this end I ask that Council support 
this action and that a letter be sent to the MP and to other rural authorities 
asking them to lobby based on these proposals. 
 
I so move.” 

 
The Chairman seconded the motion and it was RESOLVED that Councillors add 
their support to the lobbying.  The Chairman noted that he would write to Chairmen 
of all Councils to pass a similar motion, and that the Chief Executive would also 
seek support from Chief Executives of other authorities to seek support. 
 
Councillor Strange noted that he and Councillor Bierley could also ask the 
SPARSE organisation to support the matter, as it worked with all rural authorities.  
The Chief Executive affirmed that she had already discussed the motion with 
SPARSE, and the District Council’s Network had also been approached for its 
support in this matter. 
 
 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 15


	Agenda
	2 Council Minutes
	7 Heart of the South West (HotSW) Devolution
	8 Winkleigh Parish Neighbourhood Area Designation
	Appendix 1 - Winkleigh PC - Request for Designation - 26-01-17
	Appendix 2 - Proposed Neighbourhood Area - Winkleigh Civil Parish

	9 Appointment of Non-Elected Representative
	10 Treasury Management Report
	Appendix 1 - 2017-18 Treasury Management Strategy
	Appendix 2 - List of Approved Counterparties
	Appendix 3 - Prudential Indicators 2017-18
	Appendix 4 - MRP 2017-18

	11 Pay Policy
	Pay Policy Statement March 2017

	12 Standards Committee Determination - Cllr David Brenton
	Decision Notice

	15 Notices of Motion



